IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1511

KONSTANTINOS X. FOTOPOULOS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GEORGE E. TRAGOS, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 184830 600 Cleveland Street, Suite 700 Clearwater, Florida 33755 (727) 441-9030 SPN# 0000117

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Konstantinos X. Fotopoulos, was indicted and charged with two counts of first degree murder, one count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder, two counts of solicitation to commit first degree murder, two counts of attempted first degree murder, and one count of burglary of a dwelling while armed. Specifically, the Indictment charged the Appellant with: Count I, on or about October 20, 1989, the Appellant and Deidre Hunt committed premeditated first degree murder of Mark Ramsey; Count II, on or about November 4, 1989, the Appellant and Deidre Hunt committed the premeditated first degree murder of Bryan Chase. (R. 3394); Count III, on or about October 1, 1989, through and including November 4, 1989, the Appellant, Hunt, Teja James, and Lori Henderson conspired to commit first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos (R. 3395); Count V, on or between October 31, 1989, and November 1, 1989, the Appellant, Hunt and Henderson solicited Teja James to commit first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos. (R. 3397).

The Appellant, Hunt, Henderson and James were also charged by Information in Case No. 90-6668 with attempted first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos on November 1, 1989. (R. 3400). In Case No. 90-1995, the Appellant along with others, was charged with on or about November 4, 1989, burglary of a

1

dwelling while armed. (R. 3398); Count II, the Appellant, Hunt, and Bryan Chase were charged with attempted first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos on or about November 4, 1989. (R. 3398); and in Count III, the Appellant and Hunt were charged with soliciting Bryan Chase to commit first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos on or about November 1, through November 4, 1989. (R. 3399).

On January 9, 1991, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable S. James Foxman, Circuit Court Judge with retained counsel, Tom Mott. Mr. Mott requested the court to permit him to withdraw, and to have the Appellant declared indigent and counsel appointed. (R. 3992). During this hearing, the State over the Appellant's objections conducted extensive cross-examination of the Appellant's financial status. (R. 3995-4028). The trial court ultimately declared the Appellant indigent, (R. 3466), and appointed Carmen F. Corrente, Esquire, to represent him. (R. 3467).

Various pre-trial motions were filed and heard on June 4-5, 1990, August 10, 1990, August 31, 1990 and October 5, 1990. Included was a Motion for Severance of Offenses, wherein the Appellant sought to sever Count I of the Indictment, the first degree murder of Kevin Ramsey, from the remaining charges, including Count II of the Indictment, the first degree murder of Bryan Chase. (R. 3794-3796). This Motion was originally heard on June 4, 1990. (R. 2867). The State gave a lengthy

proffer as to the anticipated testimony in support of keeping the charges together. (R. 2874-81). The Appellant disputed the proffer maintaining there was an insufficient connection between the murders of Mr. Ramsey and Mr. Chase. (R. 2882-2884). Based upon the proffer by counsel, the Motion to Sever Offenses was denied. (R. 2885). Thereafter, the Appellant filed a renewed Motion for Severance, (R. 3842-43), and an amended Motion for Severance. (R. 3916-18). These motions were also denied. (R. 3206, 3892).

Jury selection began on October 1, 1990, in Putnam County pursuant to the trial court granting Appellant's Motion for Change of Venue. (R. 3783-3786, 3835-3836). During voir dire, the Appellant objected to the State using peremptory challenges in a racially discriminatory matter. (R. 229, 434). The objections were overruled. (R. 230-231, 435-436).

At the conclusion of the State's case, the Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal. (R. 2021-2027). The motion was denied. (R. 2027). The Appellant renewed his motion at the closed of all evidence. (R. 2479, 2480, 2569, 2570). Again, the motions were denied. (R. 2480, 2570).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to all offenses as charged on October 25, 1990. (R. 2817-2819). The Appellant was adjudicated guilty of all offenses. (R. 2821). The penalty phase commenced on October 29, 1990 with the jury

recommending the death penalty as to Count I, (Kevin Ramsey), by a vote of eight to four. As to Count II, (Bryan Chase), the jury also recommended death by a vote of eight to four. (R. 3332).

On October 29, 1990, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing. The trial court entered a written order sentencing the Appellant to death for the Ramsey murder (R. 3390-91, 3936-39) and for the Case murder. (R. 3391-92, 3940-3944). As to the Ramsey sentence, the trial court found three statutory aggravating circumstances: 1) the Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or felony involving the use of threat or violence to the person; 2) capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; and 3) capital felony was a homicide and committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense or moral or legal justification. (R. 3936-3937). The trial court found no statutory mitigating circumstances, but found five non-statutory mitigating factors: 1) the Appellant was a good son; 2) the Appellant came from a good family; 3) the Appellant was hard working; 4) the Appellant had good manners and a good sense of humor; 5) the Appellant did complete his education through the masters level. (R. 3938-3939). As to the case murder in addition to the three aggravators found and noted above, the court also found the capital felony was committed while the Appellant was engaged or was an accomplice in the

commission or an attempt to commit a burglary and the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain. (R. 3940-3941). The trial court did not find that any statutory mitigating factors and found the same non-statutory mitigating factors as found in the Ramsey case. (R. 3942-3943). As to the remaining convictions, the trial court sentenced the Appellant to concurrent life sentences. (R. 3390).

The Appellant's Motion for New Trial was denied. (R. 3961-3963). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. (R. 3970). Thereafter, a Stipulation for Substitution of Appellate Counsel was filed wherein Douglas N. Duncan and Philip G. Butler, Jr., were attorneys of record for the Appellant.

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions and sentence in <u>Fotopoulos v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992). A timely Motion to Vacate the Judgment and Sentence of Death was filed on February 28, 1995. (P.R. 0002). On August 9, 1996, the Defendant filed a pro-se Motion to Vacate the Judgment and Sentence. (P.R. 174). This motion was effectively adopted and refiled by counsel on September 11, 1996. (P.R. 503).

Thereafter, the trial court entered an order of continuance on September 16, 1996 at the request of counsel and gave him 15 days to file an amended motion to

vacate. (P.R. 501-502). On September 27, 1996 counsel filed an amended motion

to vacate. (P.R. 792).

A <u>Huff</u> hearing was held on March 31, 1997 and counsel for the Appellant and the State were given an opportunity to argue the issue of whether an evidentiary hearing should be granted on any claims. The trial court's order denying an evidentiary hearing on all claims was issued on May 16, 1997. (P.R. Vol. 8 page 47). A Notice of Appeal was filed. Attorney Craig Stephen Boda represented the Appellant until filing a motion to withdraw on May 5, 1998. On July 16, 1998, this Court entered an order appointing CCRC-Middle Region and requiring Appellant's Initial Brief by November 18, 1998. On August 17, 1998, counsel filed a Notice of Appearance. On October 2, 1998, counsel filed a Motion to Relinquish Jurisdiction and Toll Time due to public records requests. On November 16, 1998, counsel learned that the motions were denied.

On November 18, 1998, the initial brief of the Defendant, represented by Amy Settlemire, was filed with this Honorable Court. The State, represented by Kenneth S. Nunnelley, filed an Answer Brief of Appellee on January 21, 1999. The Reply Brief of Appellant, represented by Amy Settlemire, was filed on March 29, 1999. Following oral argument, this Honorable Court entered an order on August 25, 1999 finding Claims I, IV, V, IX, XII and XV procedurally barred and Claim III facially insufficient. (R.R. V. V, 585). This Honorable Court further found that the

Circuit Court shall hold a <u>Huff</u> hearing on the Appellant's Amended Motion and proceed to an evidentiary hearing. (R.R. V. V, 586). The Appellant, represented by Julius Aulisio, filed his Amended Motion with the 7th Judicial Circuit in and for Volusia County on November 29, 1999. (R.R. V. V, 708-780). The State, represented by Sean Daly, filed their Response to the Defendant's Motion on January 3, 2000. (R.R. V. V, 781-784). After hearing was held March 6 through 8, 2000 on Defendant's Amended Motion, in an Order signed June 15, 2000, the Honorable Judge Hammond (R.R. V. VIII, 1042-1056) denied all relief for Defendant. (R.R. V. VIII, 1060-1061). A Notice of Appearance was mailed by George E. Tragos on behalf of the Defendant on December 27, 2000. That this Court entered an Order allowing Mr. Tragos to substitute as counsel on January 5, 2001. A Motion for an Extension of Time to File Brief was mailed by the Appellant on January 31, 2001.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

2. The Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida, entered the judgments and sentences at issue in this appeal;

3. On the 6th day of December, 1989, at the hour of 5:50 p.m. the fall

term grand jury of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida,

indicted the Defendant for the following offenses:

- d. First Degree Murder; alleged as a violation of Section 782.04, Florida Statutes;
- e. First Degree Murder; alleged as a violation of Sections 782.94 and 777.011 Florida Statutes;
- f. Conspiracy to Commit First Degree Murder; alleged as a violation of Sections 777.04 and 782.04 Florida Statutes;
- g. Attempted First Degree Murder; alleged as a violation of Section 782.04 and 777.04 Florida Statutes;
- h. Solicitation to Commit First Degree Murder; alleged as a violation of Sections 777.04 and 782.04 Florida Statutes;

3. The Defendant entered a plea of not guilty as to all charges and

requested a trial by jury thereon;

4. Between the dates of October 2, 1990 and October 25, 1990, a trial

was held before the Honorable S. James Foxman, Circuit Judge, Seventh Judicial

Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida, in Palatka, Putnam County, Florida;

5. On the 25th day of October, 1990, the jury found the Defendant,

Konstantinos X. Fotopoulos, guilty on all counts (R. 2821);

6. On the 29th day of October, 1990, a penalty phase proceeding was

held to determine the appropriate penalty in the Defendant's case. By an eight to

four vote, the jury recommended that the Defendant be sentenced to death (R.

3332);

7. The trial court sentenced the Defendant to death on the 1st day of November, 1990 (R. 3390-91, 3936-39) (R. 3391-92, 3940-44);

8. The Defendant appealed his conviction and death sentence;

 On the 15th day of October, 1992, the Supreme Court of the State of Florida affirmed the conviction and death sentence per curium without dissent.
 <u>Fotopoulos v. State, supra</u>. Rehearing was denied on December 24, 1992;

10. The Defendant then filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, October term, 1992;

 The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on the 17th day of May, 1993;

12. Based on the date of the certiorari denial, and pursuant to the express provisions of Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the Defendant filed a Motion to Vacate this result on February 28, 1995 (P.R. 002);

The Defendant filed a Motion to amend his Rule 3.850 Motion on
 May 17, 1995, which was denied by Circuit Judge Foxman;

14. The Defendant filed a Motion to disqualify Judge Foxman on January18, 1996, which was granted on January 19, 1996 and this case was reassigned toJudge Kim C. Hammond of Flagler County;

9

15. A Huff hearing was scheduled for September 11, 1996 and was continued;

16. The Defendant filed an amended Rule 3.850 Motion and a Huff hearing was held on March 31, 1997;

17. On May 16, 1997, an Order was issued denying all relief (P.R. V.VIII, 47).

18. The Defendant sought and received permission to file a belated appeal on September 1997, and on November 18, 1998, the Defendant filed his initial brief in the Florida Supreme Court;

19. Following briefing by the parties and oral argument, this Honorable Court, in an Order dated August 25, 1999, found that the Defendant's Counts I, IV, V, IX, XII and XV were procedurally barred and that Count III was facially insufficient (R.R. V. V, 585);

20. This Honorable Court further found that the Circuit Court shall hold a <u>Huff</u> hearing on the Defendant's Amended Motion and proceed to an evidentiary hearing (R.R. V. V, 586);

21. The Defendant, represented by Julius Aulisio, filed his amended Motion to Vacate Judgments with the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County on November 29, 1999 (R.R. V. V, 708-780); 22. The state, represented by Sean Daly, filed its Response to the Defendant's Amended Motion on January 2, 2000 (R.R. V. VI, 781-784);

23. After a hearing on the Defendant's Amended Motion was held before the Honorable Kim C. Hammond on March 6-8, 2000; an Order signed on June 15, 2000, the Honorable Kim C. Hammond denied all relief for the Defendant (R.R. V. VIII, 1042-1056);

24. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed by the Defendant on July 14,2000 (R.R. V. VIII, 1060-1061);

25. This appeal to the Florida Supreme Court follows from the denial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in denying Mr. Fotopoulos' Amended Motion. The files, records and testimony show that Mr. Fotopoulos is entitled to relief. The court erred in finding that Mr. Fotopoulos' issues were either barred or not proven. A new trial or re-sentencing should be granted in this matter because Mr. Fotopoulos was ineffectively represented by trial counsel, and newly discovered evidence would have probably effected the verdict and sentencing.

Ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be barred even though that ineffective assistance is exhibited by errors which could have been raised on direct appeal. Counsel's failure to recognize those errors, object to those errors, as well as his failure to investigate the case, present witnesses, move for a continuance, move to suppress evidence, all are manifestations of his ineffective representation. These issues are raised as errors by trial counsel not as errors by the trial court.

The second issue involving the newly discovered evidence was impossible to discovery during the course of the trial. The fact that Deidre Hunt received a life sentence taken with the arguments of the prosecutor involving her credibility, plus the attacks on Mr. Fotopoulos as being a Greek terrorist, had an effect on the heart of the defense. Whether Miss Hunt was dominated or whether she did these crimes on her own, was key in this trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Those facts necessary for consideration of the issues raised herein on appeal will be discussed:

Sergeant Larry Lewis of the Daytona Police Department testified that on November 7, 1989, he and other officers went to an area known as the Strickland Shooting Range in Volusia County pursuant to information they had obtained from Mr. Teja James about a homicide. (R. 575). They were unable to locate a body. (R. 573-574). Later that same day, Deidra Hunt took Lewis and other law enforcement officers back out to the shooting range. With Hunt's assistance, a badly decomposed body was discovered. It was estimated that the body had been left for a number of weeks. (R. 584). The remains were later stipulated to have three bullet wounds to the chest. (R. 594). It appeared to the officers that he had been tied up at one point. (R. 594). He was wearing a Harley Davidson tee shirt. (R. 594).

Dr. Arthur J. Botting, District Medical Examiner in and for Volusia County, testified without objection as an expert in forensic pathology that on November 8, 1989, he performed the autopsy on Mr. Ramsey. (R. 627-28). During the autopsy, the doctor recovered two small caliber bullets from the trunk (chest) area, and a third from the cranial cavity. (R. 629). The three bullets had "the appearance of

.22 caliber bullets." (R. 639). Dr. Botting testified that the .22 caliber shot to the skull was the fatal wound, (R. 673), and this shot would have rendered Ramsey brain dead and immediately unconscious. Within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Dr. Botting opined that the cause of Mr. Ramsey's death was multiple (four) gunshot wounds to the chest and head. (R. 673). Subsequent to his initial autopsy, Dr. Botting viewed a videotape of the Ramsey shooting. Based upon this viewing, he concluded there was an additional gunshot wound to the chest area. (R. 629). Also, subsequent to his initial autopsy, Dr. Botting was asked whether there was a possibility of a second gunshot wound present in the skull, and in particular whether such wound was caused by a high velocity type of ammunition. (R. 640). Dr. Botting was shown Mr. Ramsey's skull which had been cleaned up, and reconstructed. (R. 640). He also consulted with Dr. Peter Lipkovich, Medical Examiner for Duvall County, Florida. (R. 640). In re-examining the skull, Dr. Botting concluded that there was a second gunshot wound to the skull which was consistent with a high powered weapon such as an AK-47 using military full metal jacketed round ammunition. (R. 642, 643-644). This second examination was conducted on July 31, 1990. (R. 672).

Marjean Powell, the fiancé of Mr. Ramsey, testified that she last saw him on October 20, 1989, at which time he was dressed in a Harley Davidson tee shirt. (R. 683). She saw Ramsey with Mr. Fotopoulos, and later saw him talking to Deidre Hunt. (R. 684). Ms. Powell acknowledged that a trespass warning had been issued at Mr. Fotopoulos' request prohibiting Mr. Ramsey from being at Fotopoulos' business establishment. (R. 688).

Deidre Hunt testified that she arrived in Daytona Beach in July, 1989. She obtained a job as a bartender at Mr. Fotopoulos' business, Top Shots, and developed a relationship with Mr. Fotopoulos. Over objection, Hunt was permitted to testify that Mr. Fotopoulos had threatened her with a pistol, thrown a knife at her (R. 728), slapped her, (R. 747), bound her hands with a coat hanger, and burned her breast with a cigarette. (R. 750). Additionally, Hunt was allowed to testify that Mr. Fotopoulos claimed to be an Israeli terrorist assassin, (R. 756) that he had killed many people, (R. 756), that he was a member of a Hunter and Killer Club comprised of paid assassins to kill people, (R. 757), and was employed by the CIA. (R. 758).

Hunt testified that in mid to late October, 1989, she was asked by Mr. Fotopoulos to look for Mr. Ramsey. (R. 774). Hunt, Ramsey and Mr. Fotopoulos went out to the Strickland Rifle Range. Hunt had not been told what was to happen (R. 775). After arriving at the rifle range, according to Hunt, Mr. Fotopoulos told her she was going to have to shoot Ramsey or she would die. (R. 777). Hunt testified that she felt she had no choice but to shoot Ramsey. (R. 778-780). After Ramsey was tied to a tree and told he was being initiated into a club, (R. 781-782), Hunt testified that she shot Ramsey three times in the chest, and then walked up to him and shot him once in the temple. (R. 783-784). She further claimed that Mr. Fotopoulos subsequently shot Ramsey once in the head with his AK-47. (R. 785-787). Hunt testified that Mr. Fotopoulos videotaped the shooting. (R. 783). According to Hunt, Mr. Fotopoulos told her that "if she ever tried to run" that the videotape would be turned over to the police. (R. 791).

Hunt claimed the next time she saw Mr. Fotopoulos he told her she would have to kill his wife and if she did not cooperate, he would turn over the Ramsey shooting videotape to the police. (R. 792-793). Later, Hunt claimed Mr. Fotopoulos brought up a plan where Hunt would hire someone else to kill Lisa Fotopoulos (R. 794) for the \$700,000.00 insurance money (R. 794-795). Hunt approached Michael Cox and offered him \$10,000.00 to kill Lisa Fotopoulos. Cox was to make it look like a robbery at Mrs. Fotopoulos' business. (R. 796-797). Hunt next approached J.R. Newman to kill Mrs. Fotopoulos. Like Cox, this plan never materialized. (R. 802-803). Hunt testified she then approached Teja James, the boyfriend of her best friend Lori Henderson. (R. 805). The plan was for Mr. James to stab Mrs. Fotopoulos at a nightclub on Halloween night. (R. 812-814).

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