## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KONSTANTINOS X. FOTOPOULOS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-1511

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990
FAX (904) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The first claim contained in Fotopoulos' brief is that the lower court erred in finding certain claims in the amended motion

to be procedurally barred. The legal basis for this claim is not identified in Fotopoulos' brief, and, in fact, the only identifiable challenge to any ruling by the lower court is Fotopoulos' statement that he "disagrees" with the lower court's denial of the cumulative error claim on procedural bar grounds. The trial court properly found that claim procedurally barred, and, in the alternative, without merit. That ruling is in accord with settled Florida law.

Fotopoulos' second claim is that the lower court erred in denying relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Fotopoulos cannot establish either deficient performance on the part of trial counsel, or prejudice as a result therefrom. The findings of fact by the Circuit Court are supported by the evidence, and, therefore, are presumptively correct and should not be disturbed. The ineffective assistance of counsel claim is not a basis for relief.

Fotopoulos argues that the life sentence imposed on Deidre Hunt following Fotopoulos' capital trial is "newly discovered evidence" that renders his sentence of death disproportionate. This claim is not a basis for relief because, as the collateral proceeding trial court found, Fotopoulos was the most culpable defendant, and, therefore, was most deserving of the death penalty. Because the degree of culpability between Hunt and

Fotopoulos is different, there is no proportionality issue when the less-culpable co-defendant received the more lenient sentence. Fotopoulos was, as the sentencing court found, the driving force behind two murders. In the face of that finding, there is no basis for relief because there is no probability of a different sentence even if Hunt's eventual life sentence had been imposed at the time of her testimony in Fotopulos' capital trial.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE PROCEDURAL BAR CLAIM

On pages 26-27 of his brief, Fotopoulos claims that "the court erred in finding the claims made in the amended motion as barred." The precise nature of this claim is unclear, and the allegedly erroneous rulings of the circuit court are only vaguely identified. Moreover, the legal basis for the claim does not appear in Fotopoulos' brief. In fact, the only identifiable challenge to any ruling by the trial court is the sentence which reads: "However, the order does say that the cumulative error argument is also procedurally barred with which we disagree." Initial Brief, at 26-27. If that is the issue contained in Claim I, it is not a basis for relief for the following reasons.

1

If Claim I contains any other issues, they cannot be discerned from Fotopoulos's brief. Obviously, the State cannot respond to

In deciding the "cumulative error" claim, the collateral proceeding trial court held:

The final claim in the motion begins on page 70 thereof and is mis-numbered as Claim 12. The Court has renumbered that claim for clarity as Claim 13. Claim 13 (renumbered) is what appears to be a "cumulative error" claim. This claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. Moreover, this claim is not a basis for relief because the Florida Supreme Court has held that allegations of individual error that are without merit do not support a "cumulative error" claim. See, Bryan v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S516 (Fla. Oct. 26, 1999).

(R1051). Aside from his dissatisfaction with the result, Fotopoulos has not demonstrated any basis for relief.

In discussing the proper analytical approach to a claim of "cumulative error", this Court recently held:

In *Downs*, 740 So. 2d at 509 n. 5, we held that claims of cumulative error are properly denied where the Court has considered each individual claim and found the claims to be without merit. Upon review of Rose's initial rule 3.850 motion, we determined that the trial record conclusively refuted Rose's claim that his attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel in the guilt and penalty phases of trial. *See Rose II*, 617 So. 2d at 293-98. Having found that each claim lacks merit, we find no cumulative error.

Rose v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S824 & n. 10 (Fla. Dec. 21, 2000); see also, Mann v. State, 770 So. 2d 1158, 1164 (Fla. 2000)

issues which are not presented in a brief. And, after all, the purpose of an appellate brief is to present legal argument and authority in support of the party's position, not to force the opposing party to guess what the issues are.

("All of Mann's claims were either meritless or procedurally barred; therefore, there was no cumulative effect to consider. See Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998)."). Likewise, "any claim that cumulative errors committed at trial prejudiced the outcome of his case must be raised on direct appeal; therefore, [the petitioner] is procedurally barred from raising this claim here. See Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1323-24 (Fla. 1994)."). Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037,1050 (Fla. 2000). The collateral proceeding trial court correctly denied relief on this claim on alternative grounds of procedural bar and lack of merit. Either basis, standing alone, is sufficient to support the denial of relief.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, the trial court found that claims IV, V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, and XII were not only procedurally barred, but also without merit. Fotopoulos does not challenge those rulings. Because there is no assertion that the trial court erred in its disposition of the claims forming the basis for any assertion of "cumulative error," Fotopoulos has waived any "challenge" to the disposition of the cumulative error claim. Under settled Florida law, there is no basis for reversal, not only because the cumulative error claim is itself procedurally barred, but also because there is no error to "cumulate." The trial court's denial

of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

## II. THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS

On pages 28-60 of his brief, Fotopoulos asserts that he is entitled to relief based upon ineffective assistance of counsel grounds. The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied relief on this claim, and that ruling should not be disturbed.

#### THE LEGAL STANDARD<sup>2</sup>

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the two-part *Strickland v. Washington* standard, which the Florida Supreme Court has summarized as follows:

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, to be considered meritorious, must include two general components. First, the claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are

<sup>2</sup> 

Whether counsel was ineffective under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), is reviewed de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) (requiring de novo review of ineffective assistance of counsel); Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000). Both prongs of the Strickland test, i.e., deficient performance and prejudice, present mixed questions of law and fact reviewed de novo on appeal. Cade v. Haley, 222 F.3d 1298, 1302 (11th Cir. 2000) (stating that, although a district court's ultimate conclusions as to deficient performance and prejudice are subject to plenary review, the underlying findings of fact are subject only to clear error review, citing Byrd v. Hasty, 142 F.3d 1395, 1396 (11th Cir. 1998); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (observing that both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact).

shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984). A court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need not make a specific ruling on the performance component of the test when it is clear that the prejudice component is not satisfied.

Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). (emphasis added). As Maxwell makes clear, the Strickland test is in the conjunctive, and, unless the petitioner establishes both deficient performance and prejudice, the claim fails. Stated differently:

In order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove two elements:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); see also Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998); Rose v. State, 675

So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996); Wilson v. Wainwright, 474 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 1985); Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1985). In determining deficiency, "a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052; see also Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995). Moreover, counsel's deficiency prejudices defendant only when the defendant is deprived of a "fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 218-19 (Fla. 1999).

The analysis of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel begins with the presumption that counsel's performance was constitutionally adequate. As the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has stated, the infrequency of successful ineffectiveness claims is the result of

deliberate policy decisions the Supreme Court has made mandating that "[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel's be performance must highly deferential," prohibiting "[i]ntensive scrutiny of counsel and rigid requirements for acceptable assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-90, 104 S.Ct. at 2065-66. The Supreme Court has instructed us to begin any ineffective assistance inquiry with "a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065; accord, e.g., Atkins v. Singletary, 965 F.2d 952, 958 (11th Cir. 1992) ("We also should always presume strongly that counsel's performance was reasonable and adequate ...."). Because constitutionally acceptable performance is not narrowly defined, but instead encompasses a "wide range," a petitioner seeking to rebut the strong presumption of effectiveness bears a difficult burden. As we have

### explained:

The test has nothing to do with what the best lawyers would have done. Nor is the test even what most good lawyers would have done. We ask only whether some reasonable lawyer at the trial could have acted, in the circumstances, as defense counsel acted at trial.... We are not interested in grading lawyers' performances; we are interested in whether the adversarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately.

White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218, 1220-21 (11th Cir. 1992).

Waters v. Thomas, 46 F.3d 1506, 1511-12 (11th Cir. 1995). With respect to presentation of mitigating evidence at the penalty phase of a capital trial, the Waters Court stated:

we have never held that counsel must present all available mitigating circumstance evidence in general, or all mental illness mitigating circumstance evidence in particular, in order to render effective assistance of counsel. To the contrary, the Supreme Court and this Court in a number of cases have held counsel's performance to be constitutionally sufficient when no mitigating circumstance evidence at all was introduced, even though such evidence, including some relating to the defendant's mental illness or impairment, was available. E.g., Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 184-87, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2473-74, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986); Stevens v. Zant, 968 F.2d 1076, 1082-83 (11th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 1306, 122 L.Ed.2d 695 (1993); Francis v. Dugger, 908 F.2d 696, 702-04 (11th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 910, 111 S.Ct. 1696, 114 L.Ed.2d 90 (1991); Stewart v. Dugger, 877 F.2d 851, 855-56 (11th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 962, 110 S.Ct. 2575, 109 L.Ed.2d 757 (1990). In an even larger number of cases we have upheld the sufficiency of counsel's performance in circumstances, such as these, where counsel presented evidence in mitigation but not all available evidence,

and where some of the omitted evidence concerned the defendant's mental illness or impairment. E.g., Jones v. Dugger, 928 F.2d 1020, 1028 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 875, 112 S.Ct. 216, 116 L.Ed.2d 174 (1991); Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494, 1508, 1511-14 (11th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 114 S.Ct. 121, 126 L.Ed.2d 86 (1993); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503, 1515-19 (11th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1031, 110 S.Ct. 3296, 111 L.Ed.2d 804 (1990); Daugherty v. Dugger, 839 F.2d 1426, 1431-32 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 187, 102 L.Ed.2d 156 (1988); Clark v. Dugger, 834 F.2d 1561, 1566-68 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 982, 108 S.Ct. 1282, 99 L.Ed.2d 493 (1988); Foster v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 402 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1241, 108 S.Ct. 2915, 101 L.Ed.2d 946 (1988). Our decisions are inconsistent with any notion that counsel must present all available mitigating circumstance evidence, or all available mental illness or impairment evidence, in order to render effective assistance of counsel at the sentence stage. See, e.g., Stevens v. Zant, 968 F.2d at 1082 ("[T]rial counsel's failure to present mitigating evidence is not per se ineffective assistance of counsel.").

Waters v. Thomas, 46 F.3d at 1511.

To the extent that Fotopoulos may allege a claim of ineffectiveness on the part of appellate counsel, that claim is not cognizable in this proceeding. Florida law is clear that "Ineffective assistance of counsel claims must be raised in the court in which the alleged ineffectiveness occurred. See Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 1999) (citing Knight v. State, 394 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1981); Richardson v. State, 624 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Turner v. State, 570 So. 2d 1114 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990))." State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000).

Fotopoulos asserts, on page 34 of his brief, that "[e]ach of the numerous failures articulated in this brief and in previous pleadings" establish his claim of deficient performance on the part of trial counsel. The "failures articulated" in "previous pleadings" are not identified -- in any event, there is no procedure for the sort of incorporation by reference that Fotopoulos seems to envision. He is not free to leave this Court, and the State, in the position of attempting to determine which issues he is pursuing in this appeal. Any attempt to rely on prior briefs and pleadings as a basis for reversal is wholly inappropriate.

To the extent that Fotopoulos asks this Court to overrule a portion of Strickland on page 35 of his brief, as this Court recently emphasized, "[t]he Supreme Court has specifically directed lower courts to 'leav[e] to this Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions.' Agostini v. Felton 521 U.S. 203, 237 (1997) (quoting Rodriguez de Quitas v. Sherson/American Express, Inc., 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989)." Mills v. Moore, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S242, 244 (Fla., April 12, 2001). Strickland states the law as it applies to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

### THE INDIVIDUAL CLAIMS

In denying relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel

claims, the collateral proceeding trial court stated:

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